IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,675

RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH
Capital Collateral CounselNorthern Region
Post Office Drawer 5498
Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498

SYLVIA W. SMITH
Special Asst. CCC-NR
Florida Bar No. 55816
Post Office Box 5303
Tallahassee, FL 32314-5303
(850) 656-1757
Attorney for Mr. Randolph

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Procedural History

Police found Minnie Ruth McCollum the morning of Monday,
Aug. 15, 1988 at the Handy-Way store she managed in Palatka,
Florida (R 1045-59). She was alive but had been beaten and
stabbed (R 1060-89). Randolph was arrested Aug. 15 on charges
of armed robbery and auto theft. McCollum then died at Shands
Hospital in Gainesville. On Aug. 22 Randolph was arrested for
first-degree murder (R 1-10). The Court appointed the Putnam
County Public Defender (R 8) and Asst. Public Defender Howard B.
Pearl was assigned to represent Randolph. On Sept. 1, the grand
jury indicted Randolph on first-degree murder, armed robbery,
sexual battery and grand theft charges (R 11-12). At Randolph's
Sept. 20 arraignment, trial was tentatively set for Nov. 14
before Circuit Judge Robert R. Perry (R 18-20).

On Oct. 10, Pearl asked Judge Perry to appoint Dr. Harry Krop as a confidential defense expert to access competency, sanity, and statutory and non-statutory mitigation (R 21).

Judge Perry granted the request (R 22).

On Oct. 22 or 26th, Krop conducted a psychological evaluation of Randolph at the Putnam County Jail (R 1716; PCR 852 and 900). On Oct. 31, Krop provided his report to Pearl:

I am writing to advise you that I conducted a psychological evaluation of Mr. Randolph at the Putnam County Jail on October 22, 1998. Mr. Randolph was cooperative during the evaluation and provided an account of his involvment in the offense in a manner fairly consistent with previous disclosures. From his

¹ Now deceased.

account, it is clear that he entered the facility to obtain money to support his drug habit and to take care of his family and once he became involved in a struggle with the victim, his behavior became increasingly violent and his judgment became more increasingly impaired. He reports that he had been using crack cocaine throughout the day and night of the incident and had also consumed a considerable amount of beer. Despite his apparent intoxicated state, it is this examiner's opinion that Mr. Randolph was Sane at the time of the offense and his is currently Competent to Stand Trial.

Significant factors derived from Mr. Randolph's report include a history of physical abuse and feelings of neglect. There were also a number of psychological dynamics pertaining to this individual's physical stature which can be explored further as to nonstatutory mitigating factors but it does not appear that there are any known statutory mitigating factors at this time. I would recommend verification if possible of his alcohol and drug use on the day and night of the offense and I would like to interview the Defendant's parents to obtain additional background information. I have contacted Mr. Christine and he has indicated a willingness to provide me with any information or witnesses that I would consider helpful in my evaluation.

Thank you for referring this interesting client. As this case proceeds, I would like to discuss Mr. Randolph's evaluation with you in greater detail.

(PCR 900-01).

At a Nov. 3 pre-trial hearing, trial was continued to Dec. 1 at Pearl's request² (R 30, 31, 29). Pearl requested the State be required to elect between counts of the indictment. Pearl also requested a forensic pathologist (R 25-28, see also 71). Peter Lipkovic, M.D. was appointed (R 34-5; 52-3).

On Nov. 30, Pearl asked for another continuance again citing the incomplete status of the mental health evaluations,

 $^{^2}$ His motion pointed to the incomplete status of mental evaluations, depositions, discovery and investigation (R 30).

forensic evaluations, investigation, discovery, and depositions (R 36). Judge Perry granted the motion and a pre-trial conference was set for Jan. 5, 1989 (R 37).

On Dec. 22, the Court entered an order granting Pearl's request for a neurologist and Dr. B. J. Wilder of Gainesville was appointed (R 42-43).

On Dec. 29, Wilder saw Randolph at Shands Hospital (PCR 903). Randolph provided Wilder with his mother Pearl Randolph's address in Englehard, NC and two phone numbers for her, as well as a phone number for his father (PCR 903).

In his report Wilder reported Randolph's 1979 closed head injury, which rendered him unconscious for 1 hour, a childhood psychiatric referral, drug use, and high blood pressure³. Wilder reported that he had Randolph perform simple arithmetic calculations, draw a map and a clock and a cube, and take 2 short memory tests. Neither these tests nor the gross motor function tests revealed neurological abnormalities (PCR 906-07; see also Wilder's five lines of notes at PCR 905).

On Jan. 5, 1989, trial was set for February 20 (R 44).

On Feb. 1, Krop saw Randolph and conducted the MMPI, Beck Depression Inventory, and ALCAAD tests (an instrument for assessing a person's substance abuse tendencies) (R 1716-20; PCR 852-56). Krop reviewed witness statements, police depositions, and spoke to Randolph's father and girlfriend.

³ Putnam County Jail incarceration records confirm high blood pressure and that Randolph was treated for anxiety, headaches and hypertension (PCR 945-46).

On Feb. 2, the state filed its answer to demand for discovery listing 37 witnesses (R 54-5; see also 61-2). The defense announced ready for trial (R 56). Trial counsel filed his witness list for trial with 3 witnesses, Janete [sic] Betts, Verna Betts, and Dr. Krop (R 58).

On Feb. 13, Pearl conducted a re-trial of the Johnny Robinson case in St. Augustine, Florida (R 712; 786; 1873)⁴.

On Feb. 16, an attorney from the Public Defender's Office hurriedly⁵ filed motions on Randolph's behalf. The motions were to declare chapter 921.141(5)(i) unconstitutional, to request special penalty phase verdict forms, for correction of <u>Caldwell</u> error, and for individual and sequestered voir dire (R 105-32).

Trial commenced Monday Feb. 20. Counsel stipulated to the admission of 9 items of State's evidence (R 193). The State sought an additional penalty phase jury instruction regarding the great weight the court would give the jury's recommendation (R 194). Asst. Public Defender Larry B. Henderson argued Randolph's 4 pending motions and presented a proposed preliminary jury instruction regarding the <u>Caldwell</u> issue. The Court denied Randolph's motion for individual and sequestered voir dire and Henderson's request for an evidentiary hearing. Henderson argued that sections 921.141(5)(h) & (i) were

⁴ The record includes numerous references to this fact, which this Court has already judicially noticed.

⁵ Undersigned assumes preparation was hurried because these motions contain errors in their prayers for relief and occasionally refer to the defendant as "Robinson" rather than "Randolph" (R 123, 126, 127).

unconstitutional and the State proposed submitting additional jury instructions (R 775-93).

The jury convicted Randolph of first degree murder, armed robbery, sexual battery, and grand theft (R 583). This Court's opinion affirming the convictions on direct appeal summarizes the evidence presented at trial. Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990). On Friday, Feb. 24, the penalty phase occurred. According to this Court's opinion:

Randolph presented the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop, a psychologist who examined Randolph. He opined that none of the statutory mitigating circumstances existed, although several nonstatutory circumstances most likely contributed to the offense. He testified that Randolph, who was adopted when he was five months old, had problems getting along with people in school, and his behavior problems caused him to be referred to psychotherapy for a year in the third grade. His mother was emotionally unstable and was hospitalized for psychiatric reasons on a number of occasions, and his father was physically abusive, and administered discipline by tying him and beating him with his hands, a broomstick, and a belt.

Despite his emotional deficiencies, Randolph graduated from high school. He received an honorable discharge from the Army; however, he started using drugs during his service, including marijuana and cocaine. In 1984 he began using highly-addictive crack cocaine. Dr. Krop testified that, unlike alcohol intoxication, crack cocaine's effects are not readily apparent from merely looking at a person. When someone regularly uses crack cocaine, the effects of the drug stay in the blood; one's personality and behavior are affected, not necessarily by an immediate ingestion of the drug, but rather by its use over time. He believed that Randolph's abnormal personality was greatly influenced by his drug addiction at the time of the offense.

Dr. Krop further testified that Randolph regretted what had happened; he was ashamed and embarrassed that he had lost control, and was remorseful about what he had done. The psychologist believed that Randolph had nothing against Mrs. McCollum, that he fully intended only to enter the store and steal the money while she was outside, but that things happened that caused him to panic. He

concluded that Randolph's criminal behavior was influenced by his drug addiction.

Randolph, 562 So. 2d at 334. (See R 868-81; 1732-45).

In his testimony, Krop also stated that the background information, that which he was aware of, was consistent with Randolph's self-report and that Randolph appeared to be candid and acknowledged responsibility for the offense (R 1720-23; PCR 856-59). Trial counsel Pearl specifically elicited the following from Krop regarding the existence of statutory mitigating circumstances (PCR 861-2; R 1725-27):

[] we had difficulty obtaining conclusive or verification to support the nature of this disturbance, it's referred to in the DSM III - which is the diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. This is basically the Bible used by psychologists and psychiatrists to determine what the diagnosis is - it's referred to as an atypical personality disorder.

It meant the person has several traits, but we cannot classify it as any one kind of personality disturbance.

We know, at least from the father's report and also a self-report, that Mr. - Mr. Randolph had psychotherapy for about a year when he was in the third grad. He was referred by his teachers. The father indicated tome that he took him for therapy.

The father was not particularly a good historian in terms of the nature of any kind of diagnosis, so again, we don't have records, we just know that he was in trouble in terms of seeking professional help from a young boy.

And, again, there are various traits that he exhibits that would sort of run the gamete [sic], some types of inadequacies and so forth.

So he has an ongoing personality disorder, and that was certainly operating at the time of the offense.

Q. Well, Doctor, let me interrupt just a moment. You have chosen to interpret the term "extreme emotional disturbance," because there is no judicial guidance to tell you what that means, as opposed to mere mental disturbance; is that so?

A. That's correct.

- Q. Could there be a disagreement among members of your profession as to whether as to the meaning of the term "extreme"?
- A. I'm sure there could be, yes.
- Q. Would it be possible is it possible that some members of your profession, who have your same expertise, could say that in their opinion Richard Randolph suffered from an extreme mental disturbance at the time of the commission of the capital felony, even though you disagree, based upon the same factors and same information and the same conduct?
- A. Again, depending on the, I guess, internal criteria that each mental health professional uses, I certainly would expect that there may be some disagreement.

Again, I have chosen my own criteria based on numerous evaluations to use the term extreme when those certain factors exist. Certainly others might disagree with me on that.

- Q. But would you agree or disagree with me if I were to suggest that the term extreme in that phase [sic] is somewhat vague and subject to subjective interpretation?
- A. Well, sure. I think that anytime a psychologist is rendering opinion or interpreting, there's some subjectivity that goes into that.

One of the — one of the advantages of being able to use DSM III, or subsequently the DSM-IIIR, which is the revised version and has some slight modifications, is that there are some specific criteria listed as far as when we can and when we cannot diagnosis a person according to a particular diagnosis.

Again, you're correct in asserting that there's nothing in here that states extreme or substantial.

Those are more or less judicial kinds of terms, and psychologists may interpret that differently.

(R 1727-30; PCR 863-66)

Krop explained that he did not know what Randolph's use of crack cocaine was around the time of the offense. Krop said he understood Randolph's general use of crack cocaine (R 889-90; PCR 1753-54).

By 8 to 4, the jury recommended death (R 1850).

On March 1, Pearl filed Randolph's Motion for New Trial (R 600-604). On March 7, Pearl submitted a letter outlining non-statutory mitigation (R 606-07).

On March 9, Randolph's Probation officer interviewed Randolph for the Pre-Sentence Investigation [PSI] (PCR 981-82; 984-89). Randolph provided Probation with the telephone numbers of his mother's neighbor Mary Jane in Engelhard, NC, as well as his mother's address.

Randolph's North Carolina high school, Mattamuskeet School, provided Probation a summary of his marks. The summary showed that Randolph had a 1.07 average and ranked 77th in a class of 82 students (PCR 994). On March 27, 1989, attorney Pearl gave Probation his input (PCR 983).

On March 31, Probation issued its PSI (PCR 948-63). The PSI indicated Randolph was a street person at the time of the offense and had been homeless for several weeks, sometimes sleeping in a dumpster at the Handy Way. Probation classified Randolph's mother as an alcoholic. Probation spoke with North Carolina Police Officer Willie Gibbs who explained that because Pearl Randolph drank heavily, she and Barry had had problems.

Judge Perry sentenced Randolph April 5, 1989. Pearl, relying on Randolph's statement of remorse in the PSI, urged the Court to consider Randolph's extreme remorse and sorrow for the victim's family. Pearl then referred to his March 7, 1989 letter to the court and asked the Court to sentence Randolph to two 25-year consecutive sentences rather than death (R 1888-90). John Tanner presented the State's argument which was responded to briefly by Pearl (R 1890-93). Judge Perry sentenced Randolph to 9 years prison for the armed robbery and to 27 years prison for the sexual battery. Then, Judge Perry read the judgment and

sentence, sentencing Randolph to death on the murder charge, into the record (R 1893-1905). Judge Perry then signed and filed it (R 1906; 641-52).

The Judgement and Sentence read in pertinent part:

F.S.921.141(5): RELEVANT AND APPLICABLE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES

(d) THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED WHILE ENGAGED IN THE COMMISSION OF FLIGHT AFTER COMMISSION OF A SEXUAL BATTERY

This aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state.

The facts adduced at trial show conclusively that the Defendant was engaged in and completed the crime of Sexual Battery as to the victim. Upon completion of the extremely brutal beating, the Defendant, by his own admission, masturbated and placed his penis inside of her vagina culminating in sexual orgasm after the victim had been stripped of her lower clothing and while she lay helpless on the convenience store floor. The Defendant's version of the sexual battery in this Court's opinion runs contrary to the evidence introduced at trial. Autopsy photos that this Court admitted into evidence but did not allow the jury to view, in order to insure the Defendant a fair trial, show massive bruising and trauma between the upper thighs and the general vaginal area which, in this Court's mind, are consistent with that of a brutal and violent rape. The Defendant's version of the rape is incredible and most unbelievable. Non-motile sperm was detected by FDLE analysts on a swab that a University of Florida resident obstetriciangynecologist prepared from a swabbing deep within her vagina. The jury found the Defendant guilty of sexual battery with force likely to cause serious personal injury or with a deadly weapon as charged in the indictment.

(e) THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING OR PREVENTING A LAWFUL ARREST This aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state.

It was apparent, based on all the facts at trial, that Minnie Ruth McCollum was murdered because she could identify the Defendant, RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH, as the perpetrator of criminal acts, and thus report such facts to law enforcement which would lead to his lawful arrest for Robbery.

The Defendant knew the victim and had previously worked with her at the Handy Way store until his employment ended by store officials. It is clear that she could have positively identified him to law enforcement personnel. In addition, the Defendant's statement to detectives were to the effect that he had to do it, because she knew him! In addition, her screams and moans, according to the Defendant's statements, were such that the Defendant found it necessary to silence his victim to prevent his detection and arrest.

(f) THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED FOR PECUNIARY GAIN

This aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state.

The facts adduced at trial show conclusively that the Defendant was interrupted by the victim when in the process of attempting to steal money and/or lottery tickets from the Handy Way story. The jury specifically found that a robbery was committed and that the Defendant took as part of the robbery, lottery tickets which he cashed the winning ones elsewhere, her car keys and her Buick Automobile which he used as a getaway car.

(g) THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL.

This aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state.

RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH had been employed at the Handy Way store in East Palatka and was familiar with the layout of the store, the victim's daily routine and the combination to the safe. Apparently the Defendant had a need from money and consequently went to the store on August 15, 1988 to steal money from the store's safe. When Minnie Ruth McCollum interrupted the Defendant in the process of stealing from the store he brutally beat her about the head with his hands and fists, kicked her, strangled her with a ligature and stabbed her with a knife, inflicting wounds which medical evidence showed caused her death on August 21, 1988. The Defendant went back to the victim on four or five separate occasions while attempting to murder he. His statements reflect the fact that she was much tougher than he thought and that he had to repeat the beatings and/or strangulations. From her repeated screams during the beatings, strangulation, and stabbing in the throat it is clear that the victim agonized over he injuries and impending death.

F.S.921.141(6): MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES PRESENTED BY THE DEFENDANT

(a) THE DEFENDANT HAS NO SIGNIFICANT HISTORY OF PRIOR CRIMINAL ACTIVITY

This mitigating factor has not been proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

Although not specifically offered by the Defendant, there was discussion and testimony by the defense regarding the Defendant's criminal history. The Court has become aware of multiple convictions in North Carolina and Florida as referenced in the presentence investigation. Consequently, this Court cannot find this mitigating circumstance appropriate.

(b) THE CAPITAL FELONY WAS COMMITTED WHILE THE DEFENDANT WAS UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF EXTREME MENTAL OR EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE.

This mitigating circumstance is not supported by a preponderance of the evidence. According to Dr. Harry Krop, clinical psychologist, the Defendant was diagnosed as having an A-Typical personality disorder, a recognized anti-social disorder, as found in the Diagnostic And Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd Ed., DSM-III, but oddly deleted and placed in a catch-all "all others disorders" category in the most recent DSM-III-R (revised edition). Regardless, it was Dr. Krop's expert opinion that this did not rise to the level of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. The Court finds upon reviewing all the evidence that this statutory mitigating circumstance has not been proven.

The Court notes that the Defendant has not proven or argued any other statutory mitigating circumstances. The Court, upon reviewing all of the evidence finds that none of the other statutory mitigating circumstances have been proven.

SPECIALLY PROFERRED MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES (NON-STATUTORY)

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