IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. SC93675 AND SC01-285

RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH, Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH, Petitioner, vs. JAMES V. CROSBY, JR., etc., Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

> JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 904) 238-4990

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

- [I]t goes beyond a reasonable doubt and all the way to a moral certainty that Barry Randolph committed robbery in that store. . . [I]t would be an exercise in futility, and probably an insult to your intelligence to start arguing and getting picky about, well, was the car taken in the course of the robbery
- I'm not going to argue that kind of thing. He went in there primarily to steal. . . . I

can't argue it and still hold your attention.

Id. at 1532. This type of tactical choice falls well within the broad range of professionally competent strategic trial decisions. Randolph has utterly failed to carry his burden to establish either prong of the Strickland standard in regard to this claim. He is entitled to no relief.

Regarding the committed during the course of a felony, Mr. Pearl told the jury that he had "doubts I want to share with you about whether this is the kind of sexual battery as such that you envision as being sexual battery." *Id.* at 1534. Thus, the record does not support the claim that Mr. Pearl conceded in the course of a felony at page 1534 of the record. However, even if he had, it would have been a reasonable tactical decision given Randolph's statement explaining the sexual battery in which he said:

> I decided to do something that would persuade people that only a maniac would have done, so that people would know I didn't, because in essence -- I'm not implying -- I'm no maniac, everybody knows that. And therefore they would never think it was me.

Id.

Regarding this claim, Mr. Pearl testified: Randolph "confessed to it. He left me in a very poor position." *Id.* Thus, Mr. Pearl was "not in a position to deny it or to try to change the facts . . . " *Id.* at 3203. Later, Randolph told the police that "he had not actually done that" (penetrated her). *Id.* Mr. Pearl said that he

didn't want the jury to get the idea that this man was talking out of both sides of his mouth and telling different stories. I would rather that they believed that at least he was telling the truth about what he did, because that might get the sympathy or understanding of a jury such as we get in Putnam County.

• • •

- . . . I didn't intend for him to testify. But at least the jury could see that he was being remorseful by being truthful in making a confession to the police when he got caught. And that was one of the few things he left me to try to work with.
- . . [I]n his confession he said that [he] garroted the lady at least twice, beat her and he cut her. And whether or not he raped her was not really all that important.
- Id. at 3203-05. Randolph also detailed his guilt of the murder. Id. at 3236. Moreover, "cleaning ladies or something like that" saw Randolph exiting the Handy Way and "recognized him," identifying him by name. Id. at 3235. These persons found the murder victim naked below the waist and brutally beaten. Id. at 3236. Mr. Pearl was left with "[n]ot much of a defense at all." Id. at 3236. Regarding the claim that at record page "1897" Mr. Pearl conceded the "avoiding arrest" aggravator, there is no closing argument at DAR 1897. The jury charge begins at DAR 1583. In any event, given Randolph's above-referenced written statement, Randolph can hardly show any prejudice from any concession of the avoid arrest aggravator. Clearly, his own statement unequivocally established it!

Finally, to the extent that Randolph claims that statements made in closing argument prejudiced him by referencing a "racial difference" and "vengeance." (IB 78). It does not appear that this claim was raised in the postconviction motion, and therefore, it is procedurally barred in this proceeding. Moreover, any error in that regard was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt due to the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the three strong aggravators, and the comparatively minuscule mitigation.

Prosecutorial Misconduct:

Prosecutor's Comment - Randolph complains that Mr. Pearl was ineffective for failing to object to a comment made by the prosecutor during closing argument. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Pearl explained his failure to object when the prosecutor mentioned putting an old dog to sleep, Mr. Pearl said "[t]hat is lawyer's hyperbole." (R 3256). The context was that people sometimes have to make difficult decisions. *Id*. The postconviction judge agreed. *See* R 4613.

Mr. Pearl explained that if he "objected to that the jurors would have thought that what he said had hurt me very badly. I just let it pass."²⁶ Id. He felt that there was "a great difficulty in their

²⁶He explained: "We all tend to wander off course now and then. And certainly the dog analogy didn't come through as anything really clear. But I didn't want to object to it because I thought that the jury would feel that he really said something very important." *Id.* at 3256.

minds about voting for life" after what Randolph had done to his victim. Id. at 3257. Again, this is a reasonable, tactical decision. Whether to object under such circumstances cannot be ineffective assistance of counsel. See Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 2230. Further, to the extent that the issue should have been raised on direct appeal, but was not, it is procedurally barred in this proceeding. It is well settled that issues that could have been, but were not, raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. Id. at 218-19; Johnson v. State, 593 So. 2d 206, 208 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 119 (1992); Smith v. State, 445 So. 2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1220 (1984). Randolph cannot avoid the procedural bar by attempting to couch an otherwise barred claim as ineffective assistance of counsel. Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 218-19 n.2; Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1057 (Fla. 1993); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, the attempt to raise a prosecutorial misconduct issue "based on ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to raise an appropriate objection . . . must fail under this Court's decision in *Gaskin v. State*, 737 So. 2d 509, 520 n.6, 7 (Fla. 1999). Therein, this Court found prosecutorial misconduct allegations "legally and facially insufficient to warrant relief under the requirements of *Strickland* . . ." because Gaskin failed to allege "how the outcome of his trial would have been different had counsel

properly objected" to the comments. *Id.* Randolph's instant claim likewise fails to allege how the outcome of his trial would have been different had Mr. Pearl objected to the prosecutor's pet dog comment. Thus, he is entitled to no relief. *Gaskin*. Moreover, it is pointed out that a prosecutorial comment/misconduct issue was raised as Point IV on direct appeal. That the substance of that claim differs from the instant one does not avoid the procedural bar. Different arguments may not be used to relitigate an issue raised on direct appeal. *Medina*, 573 So. 2d at 295.

Jury Instructions:

Burden-Shifting - Randolph complains that Mr. Pearl rendered ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to a jury instruction which he characterizes as a "burden shifting" instruction. (IB 79-80). This claim is without merit. *Shellito* v. *State*, 701 So. 2d 837, 842-43 (Fla. 1997). Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to object to the standard instruction specifically approved in *Shellito*. *See Downs* v. *State*, 740 So. 2d 506, 518 (Fla. 1999).

Moreover, ineffective assistance claims cannot be used to obtain a second appeal. *Rutherford; Lopez; Medina*. To the extent that Randolph attempts to raise a claim which is procedurally barred for lack of an objection at trial and for the failure to raise it on direct appeal under the guise of a postconviction ineffective assistance claim, he is entitled to no relief. *Id.* Jury

instruction issues are barred on postconviction motion where they were not raised on direct appeal. *See Shere v. State*, 742 So. 2d 215, 224 (Fla. 1999). The postconviction court properly held this claim procedurally barred. *See* R 4602.

Sympathy - Randolph likewise complains that Mr. Pearl was ineffective when he failed to object to the trial judge's allegedly "erroneous admonition regarding sympathy" (IB 81). To the extent that this claim should have been raised on direct appeal, but was not, it is procedurally barred in this proceeding. Randolph cannot avoid the procedural bar by attempting to couch an otherwise barred claim as ineffective assistance of counsel. *Rutherford; Lopez; Medina*.

Moreover, as pointed out by the postconviction judge: "The quote contained in the motion which the defendant attributes to the trial court was in fact part of State Attorney John Tanner's closing argument." (R 4611). "The trial court gave no instruction regarding sympathy at the penalty phase." *Id.* Indeed, even had he done so, "it would not constitute error. *California v. Brown*, 479 U.S. 538 (1987)." *Id.* Randolph is entitled to no relief.

Majority Vote - Randolph next complains that the trial court gave an erroneous instruction regarding whether a majority vote is required for a death penalty recommendation. (IB 81-82). He alleges that "[t]he correct statement of the law contained in the passage read from the standard jury instructions was inadequate to

correct the previous instruction misinforming the jury." (IB 82). He says Mr. Pearl was ineffective for failing to object "to this erroneous instruction." Id.

Randolph can show no prejudice in light of the fact, conceded by Randolph in his initial brief, that the trial judge himself corrected any erroneous instruction by reading the correct one to the jury. Thus, this claim is wholly frivolous. Moreover, jury instruction claims can be raised on direct appeal, and therefore, are procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 224 (Fla. 1999). Randolph cannot avoid the procedural bar by attempting to couch an otherwise barred claim as ineffective assistance of counsel. Rutherford; Lopez; Medina.

Vague Aggravating Circumstances, Automatic Aggravator, Vague Jury Instructions, and Limiting Constructions:

Automatic Aggravator - Randolph claims that the in the course of a felony aggravator is an automatic aggravator. (IB at 83). He complains: "Rather than object to this automatic aggravation, counsel conceded the State was entitled to have it considered." (IB 84). This claim "has been repeatedly rejected by state and federal courts." Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 1550 (1996). Counsel can hardly be ineffective for failing to raise nonmeritorious objections. Moreover, ineffective assistance claims cannot be used to obtain a second appeal. Rutherford; Lopez; Medina. To the extent that

Randolph attempts to raise a claim which is procedurally barred for lack of an objection at trial and for the failure to raise it on direct appeal under the guise of a postconviction ineffective assistance claim, he is entitled to no relief. *Id.* The "automatic aggravator" claim has been held procedurally barred in a 3.850 proceeding where it was not raised on direct appeal. *See Lopez v. Singletary*, 634 So. 2d at 1056.

Finally, although the automatic aggravator claim is placed under the ineffective assistance of counsel general heading, "there are no specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel contained in this claim." (R 4603). It was, therefore, facially and legally insufficient and properly denied.

Vague Aggravator/Limiting Construction - Randolph claims that the pecuniary gain aggravator is facially vague and overbroad unless a limiting instruction is given making it clear that it applies "only where pecuniary gain is shown [as] the primary motive for the murder." (IB 84-85). However, in his brief, he argues that "[t]rial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this argument" made by the prosecutor in closing argument. (IB 85). The prosecutor's comment, which Randolph quotes in his brief, contains no objectional language and does not misstate the law or evidence. Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make a meritless objection.

Randolph also complains that "[c]ounsel was ineffective for failing

to object to this factor and this instruction" on pecuniary gain. (IB 85). This is a barebones presentation of a claim and should be dismissed for legal and facial insufficiency. The defendant bears the burden to establish the legal sufficiency of his claims. *Smith v. State*, 445 So. 2d at 325. A mere conclusory allegation that objection should have been made to "this factor and this instruction" is wholly insufficient on which to base an evidentiary hearing on a Rule 3.850 motion, much less, grant relief. *See id.; Roberts v. State*, 568 So. 2d 1255, 1259 (Fla. 1990); *Kennedy v. State*, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989).

Moreover, there is no merit to this claim.

As to the pecuniary gain aggravator and instruction, this Court stated in *Chaky v*. *State*, 651 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1995), that the pecuniary gain aggravator applies where 'the murder is an integral step in obtaining some sought-after specific gain.' *Id*. at 1172. We further explained the applicability of this aggravator in *Finney v*. *State*, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995), stating that '[i]n order to establish this aggravating factor, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was motivated, at least in part, by a desire to obtain money, property, or other financial gain.' *Id*. at 680.

Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300, 316 (Fla. 1997). The evidence was clear that Randolph entered the store for the express purpose of stealing money, and he battered and murdered his victim, at least in part, so he could steal her car, as well as get away with the money he had just taken. The evidence well supports the finding of pecuniary gain under this Court's precedent. See id. Moreover, harmless error analysis is appropriate and would apply to this claim. See Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1994) cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1120 (1995)[applied harmless error to vague CCP instruction].

Finally, Randolph has not alleged how the outcome of his penalty phase proceeding would have been different had counsel properly objected to the prosecutor's argument or the factor and instruction thereon. Thus, his claim is "legally and facially insufficient to warrant relief under the requirements of *Strickland*" *Gaskin*, 737 So. 2d 520 n.7.

Vague Aggravator - Randolph claims that the avoid arrest aggravator, both the factor and the instruction, is "vague and counsel was ineffective for failing to object." (IB 85). This claim is without merit as this Court has specifically rejected it. *Wike v. State*, 698 So. 2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1997), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 1058 (1998) ; *Whitton v. State*, 649 So. 2d 861, 867 (Fla. 1994). Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make a meritless objection.

Randolph also complains that "[t]he record does not demonstrate that the dominant or only motivating reason for the homicide was the elimination of witnesses" and without such, the aggravator does not apply. (IB 85). This is an incorrect statement of the law. In Davis v. State, 698 So. 2d 1182, 1192 (Fla. 1997), this Court

specifically rejected such a claim, approving a finding that avoid arrest had been established where the defendant said he put the victim's body in a dumpster to give him time to get away before its discovery.

In the instant case, the evidence showed that Randolph killed his victim, who well knew him, only after she walked-in on his robbery of the store. In his statement, Randolph specifically recounted how he thought about it and decided to sexually batter her in connection with her murder for the specific purpose of causing the police to think someone other than he had committed the crime. Thus, the evidence well supports the finding of avoid arrest under this Court's precedent. *Davis*.

Moreover, harmless error analysis is appropriate and would apply to this claim. *See Fennie v. State*, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1994)[applied harmless error to vague CCP instruction]. With only the other two aggravators present in this case, the minimal nonstatutory mitigator is dwarfed. Thus, there is no reasonable likelihood that the result would have been different without the avoid arrest aggravator,²⁷ and so, any error is harmless.

Finally, Randolph has not even **alleged** that the outcome of his penalty phase proceeding would have been different had counsel

²⁷ Of course, we **know** that Judge Perry would have sentenced Randolph to death even had he not found this aggravator because he specifically tells us so in his order. *See* DAR 646.

properly objected to the prosecutor's argument or the factor and instruction thereon. Thus, his claim is "legally and facially insufficient to warrant relief under the requirements of *Strickland* " *Gaskin*, 737 So. 2d 520 n.7.

POINT III

RANDOLPH HAD A FULL AND FAIR POSTCONVICTION EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Discovery Motion:

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